
Please note:  Certain or all items on this agenda may be recorded  

 
Agenda compiled by: 
Stuart Robinson 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
Tel: 24 74360 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Richard Mills 
Tel: 24 74557 
 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (CITY DEVELOPMENT) 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on 

Wednesday, 20th April, 2011 at 10.00 am 
 

A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board  
in a Committee Room at 9.30 am 

 

 
MEMBERSHIP 
Councillors 

 
J Akhtar - Hyde Park and 

Woodhouse; 

B Atha - Kirkstall; 

D Atkinson - Bramley and 
Stanningley; 

J Elliott - Morley South; 

G Harper - Hyde Park and 
Woodhouse; 

J Jarosz - Pudsey; 

M Lobley - Roundhay; 

J Procter (Chair) - Wetherby; 

R Pryke - Burmantofts and 
Richmond Hill; 

M Rafique - Chapel Allerton; 

M Robinson - Harewood; 

S Smith - Rothwell; 

                         B Woroncow - Co-optee (Non-voting) 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

B 

 
CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS 

 
The reason for confidentiality or exemption is stated on the agenda and on each of the reports in terms of 
Access to Information Procedure Rules 9.2 or 10.4(1) to (7). The number or numbers stated in the agenda 
and reports correspond to the reasons for exemption / confidentiality below: 
 
9.0  Confidential information – requirement to exclude public access 
9.1 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of the 

business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential information would be 
disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers, and minutes will also be 
excluded. 
 

9.2 Confidential information means 
(a)  information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which forbid its 

public disclosure or  
(b)  information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another Act or 

by Court Order. Generally personal information which identifies an individual, must not be 
disclosed under the data protection and human rights rules.  

 
10.0 Exempt information – discretion to exclude public access 
10. 1 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of the 

business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information would be 
disclosed provided: 
(a) the meeting resolves so to exclude the public, and that resolution identifies the 

proceedings or part of the proceedings to which it applies, and 
(b) that resolution states by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the Local 

Government Act 1972 (paragraph 10.4 below) the description of the exempt information 
giving rise to the exclusion of the public. 

(c) that resolution states, by reference to reasons given in a relevant report or otherwise, in 
all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  

 
10.2 In these circumstances, public access to reports, background papers and minutes will also be 

excluded.  
 

10.3 Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely affect their 
possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a presumption that the meeting 
will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in 
Article 6. 

 
10. 4 Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to any 

condition): 
1 Information relating to any individual 
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3  Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 

authority holding that information). 
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or 

negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising between the authority or 
a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officer-holders under the authority. 

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings. 

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes – 
(a)  to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are 

imposed on a person; or 
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment 

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
C 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25 of the Access to Information 
Rules (in the event of an Appeal the press and 
public will be excluded). 
 
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Chief 
Democratic Services Officer at least 24 hours 
before the meeting.) 
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows: 

 
 Agenda Item 8 - Implementing Audit 

Report Recommendations under Access 
to Information Rules 10.4 (1, 2, 4, 6) and 
Article 6 Human Rights Act 1998 
(Appendix 1 and 2 refers) 

 

 



 

 
D 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration.  
 
(The special circumstance shall be specified in the 
minutes.) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
To declare any personal / prejudicial interests for 
the purpose of Section 81(3) of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and paragraphs 8 to 12 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.  
 

 

5   
 

  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND 
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES 
 
To receive any apologies for absence and 
notification of substitutes. 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS 
 
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the 
meeting held on 5th April 2011 and the Call-In 
meeting held on 5th April 2011. 
 
(Copies to follow) 
 

 

7   
 

  CLOSURE OF EAST LEEDS LEISURE CENTRE 
AND MIDDLETON POOL AND REDUCED 
OPENING HOURS OF GARFORTH SQUASH 
AND LEISURE CENTRE 
 
To consider a report of the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development on the closure of East 
Leeds Leisure Centre and Middleton Pool and 
Reduced Opening Hours of Garforth Squash and 
Leisure Centre. 
 

1 - 16 



 

 
E 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

8   
 

 Appendix 
1 and 2 - 
10.4 (1, 
2, 4, 6) 

IMPLEMENTING AUDIT REPORT 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To consider a report of the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development on implementing Audit 
Report Recommendations. 
 
(N.B. Appendix 1 and 2 are exempt under 10.4 
(1,2,4,6,) and Article 6 Human Rights Act 1998) 
 

17 - 
40 

9   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
To note that the next meeting of the Board will be 
held on Tuesday 17th May 2011 at 10.00 am with a 
pre meeting for Board Members at 9.30 am. 
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (City Development) 
 
Date: 20th  2011 
 
Subject:  Closure of East Leeds Leisure Centre and Middleton Pool and Reduced  
                Opening Hours of Garforth Squash and Leisure Centre 
 

        
 
 

1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 At the Board meeting in March 2011 Members considered requests for scrutiny and / or 
petitions concerning the closure of East Leeds Leisure Centre and Middleton pool and 
reduced operating hours at Garforth Squash and Leisure Centre. The Board agreed to 
undertake further scrutiny of these proposals.  

 

1.2 At the Scrutiny Board meeting on 5th April Members agreed to adjourn consideration of 
the report of the Acting Director of City Development on the budget position of each of 
these operations and the rationale that had been applied to identify selection for closure 
or reduced operating hours and asked that this matter be discussed again at a future 
meeting. 

 

2.0     City Development Directorate 
 

2.1 The report of the Acting Director of City Development is attached for consideration of the 
Board.  

 

3.0 Recommendations 
 

3.1 The Scrutiny Board is asked to: 
 

(i) Consider the report of the Acting Director of City Development. 
(ii) Determine what, if any, further information the Board requires to complete its 

investigation. 
 

Background Papers - None 

Specific Implications For:  
 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 
 

Electoral Wards Affected: All  

 

 

 

Originator: Richard Mills 
 

Tel: 2474557  

Agenda Item 7

Page 1



Page 2

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Report of the Chief Recreation Officer 
 
Scrutiny Board (City Development) 
 
Date:  5th April 2011 
 
Subject: Scrutiny of Council Budget Decisions on Leisure Centres 
 

        
 
 
 
Summary 
 
The reduced hours and closures of sports facilities discussed in this report were designed to 
achieve savings, required as a result of the Council’s budget strategy, with the lowest 
negative effect on the benefits of the service. A range of considerations was used to 
determine which sites should be reduced, in order to come to a balanced set of proposals.  
 
1.0  Introduction 
 
1.1 The Scrutiny Board meeting of 8 March 2011 received requests to scrutinise the 

reduced hours to be implemented at Garforth Leisure Centre and the closure of East 
Leeds Leisure Centre, and following discussion the Board agreed to do so. The Board 
also heard a similar request on the closure of the swimming pool at Middleton Leisure 
Centre and agreed to consider this as well. 

 
1.2 These arose from the decision by Council at its meeting on 23 February 2011 to 

approve the recommendations of a report on the Revenue Budget and Council Tax 
2011/12. The City Development part of this included at paragraph 3.4.1 the following: 

 
“The 2011/12 budget for Sport and Active Recreation includes savings of £1m to 
be realised from a review of the implementation of the 10 year vision for Council 
leisure centres. Proposals include the closure of East Leeds Leisure Centre on the 
31 March 2011 but to make it available for community asset transfer in line with the 
proposals outlined in the 2010/11 budget report. In addition, following a review of 
the level of subsidy across sport centres and swimming facilities and the 
availability of alternative facilities the following proposals are also included in the 
2011/12 budget; to progress a proposal for community asset transfer for Garforth 

Specific Implications For:  
 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected: All  
 

Originator: Richard Mond 
 

Tel: 247 8395  

 

 

 
   Ward Members consulted 
   (referred to in report)  

 

Page 3



Leisure Centre as from summer 2011 with a reduction in opening hours to 31 
hours a week from 1 April 2011. Facilities at Middleton Leisure Centre will be 
enhanced by planned capital investment to playing pitch provision and changing 
room refurbishment and as part of the proposal to develop Middleton Leisure 
Centre as a dry side centre the swimming pool will close from September 2011. A 
reduction in the opening hours at Bramley Baths to 29 hours per week will also be 
implemented from this date” 

 
1.3 Constitutional advice has been taken which confirms that a new resolution by Council, 

accompanied by balancing financial measures, would be required to vary these 
decisions.  Therefore the closure of East Leeds Leisure Centre and the move to 
reduced hours of Garforth Leisure Centre have been implemented as of 1 April 2011. 
The budget decision by Full Council is not subject to call-in; neither did Scrutiny Board 
propose that its implementation be delayed.  

 
1.4 This report sets out the service and financial context for the recommendations to 

Council and responds to specific issues raised in the requests for Scrutiny.  
 
2.0 Financial Context 
 
2.1 It has been widely acknowledged that the City Council faces a significant budget 

challenge over the next few years.  For 2011/2012 alone the Council has had to find 
£90m of savings.  In addition, in setting this budget the Council has been conscious of 
the need to protect, where possible, care services in the Children’s Services and Adult 
Services directorates.  On this basis the City Development Directorate needed to 
deliver £14m of budget savings in 2011/2012 from its current net operating of £77m.  
Given the scale of this financial challenge, the Directorate has recognised the 
imperative to deliver savings from the start of the financial year to ensure that the it is 
best placed to meet its budgetary responsibilities. 

 
2.2 The Recreation budget was drafted to take account of the Council’s intention that 

reductions should not be achieved by “salami slicing” but should be driven by the 
budget strategy as approved at December 2010’s Executive Board, with a clear sense 
of priority, and should include radical adjustment of existing provision where this will 
deliver improved value for money.  

 
2.3 The budget for Recreation required net £2.5m cuts (12.8% of net controllable budget), 

to which facilities savings in sport contribute £1m. This is Year 1 of a 4 year spending 
review programme, and further reductions are to be expected in future years. In 
addition to the reduction in the Sport’s budget, the corporate property maintenance 
budget was reduced by £1m (15.6%). This budget supports the decorative condition 
of buildings as well as background maintenance, and leisure buildings draw heavily 
on it, so a reduction without a corresponding reduction in facilities is likely to result in 
less attractive buildings and reduced income in the medium term. 

 
3.0 Sports Facility Strategy – the Vision for Leisure Centres 
 
3.1 The Vision for Council Leisure Centres, approved in August 2009, included plans to 

replace worn out or poorly located centres with fewer, higher quality, better located 
facilities. Their higher quality and better location would attract more participation, 
delivering one of the fundamental aims of sports provision, despite the number of 
sites being reduced. Increased participation would increase income, while the 
reduced number of sites would reduce the staffing and maintenance burden and 
enable resources to be focused on further improvement on customer service. Overall, 
this would result in a much more sustainable revenue budget. This strategy echoes 
similar strategies elsewhere in the UK, and the evidence is that these aims are 

Page 4



credible. The strategy in Leeds is at an early stage of implementation but participation 
has increased following the replacement of Armley and Morley centres, despite the 
closure of South Leeds.   

 
3.2 Although the cuts have changed the programming and some of the detail of the Vision 

for Leisure Centres, they have sought to retain its fundamental aims and analysis. 
 
3.3 The Vision was based on geographical analysis and assessment of the performance, 

accessibility and suitability of existing buildings and locations for refurbishment or 
renewal.  It also took account of the predicted funding picture, although it noted that “it 
is vitally important that the plan retains sufficient flexibility to respond to funding 
decisions and any future opportunities…”. 

 
3.4 The Vision aimed to provide Wellbeing centres to replace East Leeds & Fearnville, 

and Middleton. In both cases the resolution was “with a commitment to deliver and 
resource by 2013/15”. When the Vision was approved in 2009, the Council hoped to 
get Private Finance Initiative (PFI) funding for these replacement facilities. The PFI 
funding bids did not progress, and as there is no other short term source of funding, it 
is now clear that the resolutions for these areas will not be delivered on schedule. 
This alone required a review of these areas in the Vision; but plainly, the Council’s 
financial position required a wider review and reprogramming of the strategy. This 
needs a combination of performance assessment, with the aim of retaining the most 
cost beneficial sites, and geographical analysis, with the aim of retaining a 
geographically coherent network of sites.  

 
4.0   Approach to assessment  

 
4.1 There is no doubt that cuts in sports provision reduce the service’s benefits to 

individuals and the wider community. The eloquent presentations made by the 
petitioners to Scrutiny Board on 8 March set these out well. However even in “good” 
financial periods, the Council cannot afford to provide unlimited services, and choices 
have to be made – as described above, the Vision for Council Leisure Centres 
proposed a net reduction in the number of leisure centres. In order to decide on the 
“least bad” set of cuts, officers followed a largely (though not entirely) economic 
analysis. This is not a case of “knowing the cost of everything and the value of 
nothing” but of trying to compare the values and the costs of several options, and 
making informed choices. 
 

4.2 In formulating proposals for savings, officers aimed to take account of a balanced set 
of information rather than a single simplistic indicator. Appendix A sets out some key 
indicators used to assess the performance of leisure centres. A significant proportion 
of the cost of leisure centres is staffing, and Scrutiny Board should note that another 
part of the service’s budget plan is to reduce the staffing costs of leisure centres as 
part of a restructuring; the figures in Appendix A assume these savings are made. If 
current staff costs were used instead of these figures, the financial performance of all 
sites would appear worse and the savings from rationalisation would be greater than 
shown. Appendix B  provides some further analysis of income and expenditure for 
each of the directly affected sites whilst Appendix C sets out further analysis of 
bodyline users per site.  
 

4.3 In the first analysis, the column showing subsidy per user is useful as it is a helpful 
indicator of cost-efficiency.  These figures vary widely, with East Leeds requiring the 
highest subsidy, at £2.98 per visit.  

 
4.4 In assessing this, one consideration is the high cost of running swimming pools 

compared to the dry side, because of their high staffing and energy requirements. 

Page 5



Since the Council’s intention is to sustain accessible swimming facilities as well as dry 
side facilities, comparisons between sites on the basis of subsidy cost per visit need 
to take account of this. In similar fashion, the average catchment of pools is larger 
than the catchment of dry facilities. 

 
4.5 Another complication is that if a leisure centre closes – or if hours are reduced – some 

users will stop using the service altogether, but a proportion will transfer to other sites. 
The experience gained during the closure for rebuilding of Armley and Morley gave 
the service some useful understanding of the potential impact of these transfers. The 
proportion of users who will transfer will vary from site to site, because the 
accessibility of other sites to displaced users is not the same from site to site. The 
column in Appendix A on “projected lost visits if closed” is the service’s best estimate 
of this. This column presents estimates based on informed judgment, not certainty. 
There is objective information to support the estimates, for example analysis of visits 
by card holders shows that 75% of those visiting Bramley, 63% at East Leeds, 62% at 
Garforth and 43% at Middleton had used another Council leisure centres between 
April and December 2010, compared to 25% at Wetherby. These estimates add the 
understanding of the comparisons between sites, and the consequences of different 
options. They highlight the geographical dimension; for example, users of more 
isolated sites like Wetherby and Aireborough would be much less likely to transfer to 
other leisure centres than users of more centrally placed sites, so loss of these sites 
was projected to lose 80% and 70% of users, compared to the more typical 50% to 
60%. In this case, in both service terms and in economic terms, there is a good case 
for retaining a coherent geographical spread of sites. 
 

4.6 Officers considered the capacity of alternative sites, and the ability of specific groups 
to transfer. For all the sites affected by the budget plan, the assessment was that the 
remaining Council sites could absorb their usage including school swimming and 
other swimming lessons, as well as club usage.  

 
4.7 Of course, the picture is further complicated if reduced hours is an option alongside 

full closure; but in order to give usable like-for-like comparisons, the table sets out the 
estimated transfers for individual site closures.  

 
4.8 In general, the savings from reduced hours would be much less than the savings from 

full closure, because significant costs are retained. However, although less effective, 
reducing hours still increases efficiency because peak usage hours can be retained, 
while off-peak costs are shed. 

 
4.9 Transfers of patronage have a financial significance as they increase the overall 

saving to the Council. Virtually all the costs of the old centre are lost (if it closes) but 
some of the income is retained elsewhere. The columns in Appendix A on “Projected 
income lost if closed”, ”Projected Saving including income transferring” and “projected 
saving per visit lost” work through the economic implications of this.  

 
4.10 The Council aims to provide a leisure service accessible to all Leeds’ residents. 

Accessibility is affected by geographical distribution as noted above. It is also affected 
by several demographic factors – wealth, health, age, etc. Some of the social and 
health benefits of the service apply particularly to people who are comparatively 
worse off on some of these scales. The information in Appendix A on number of 
Leeds Card Extra visits is a simple indication of whether closure of any particular site 
would have a disproportionate impact on these individuals and groups.  Leeds Card 
Extra provides additional financial discounts to those offered by normal Leeds Card – 
typically, around 50% of the standard full rate. Leeds Card Extra is available to people 
on a range of benefits so a high level of use by Extra holders indicates a high level of 

Page 6



use by disadvantaged people. A parallel set of comments applies to Leeds Card 60+ 
which is also shown in Appendix A.  

 
4.11 Although Appendix A does not directly refer to health, the best assessment that could 

be made of the health impact of different options, is as a combination of the likely loss 
of participation (“projected lost visits”) and the particular impact on more deprived 
communities as indicated by Leeds Card Extra visits (especially since disability 
benefit is one of the qualifying factors). Elderly users are likely to have particular 
health benefits and are also rather less likely to travel to other sites, so the Leeds 
Card 60+ information is also relevant to health.  

 
4.12 Some important factors are not shown in Appendix A. In particular the grouping of 

leisure facilities. Officer analysis largely followed the geographical principles set out in 
the Vision for Council Leisure Centres, particularly the pairing of East Leeds and 
Fearnville, and of Kippax and Garforth. In these cases,  

 

• Although East Leeds is a newer and better building than Fearnville it attracts many 
fewer visits overall and from Leeds Card Extra holders, and its economic 
performance is far worse. Fearnville also supports a large range of playing pitches 
including an all-weather pitch. 
 

• Garforth has much better financial performance and slightly higher usage than 
Kippax. However Kippax has a swimming pool, meaning that closure or reduced 
hours has a wider impact on a priority activity, and partially explaining the higher 
subsidy per visit. It also attracts more Leeds Card Extra users.  

 
4.13 Finally, Appendix A does not assess the likelihood of achieving a successful 

Community Asset Transfer (CAT).  This varies greatly – at Garforth there is a good 
prospect of success, whereas at some sites it is much less likely and indeed, attempts 
to achieve it to date for both South Leeds and East Leeds have failed.  

 
5.0   Summary of update of the Vision for Council Leisure Centres. 
 

Site 2009 Proposals Current position and impact of Full 
Council decision. 

South 
Leeds 

CAT or close when Morley 
reopens 

Now closed.  

East 
Leeds 
and 
Fearnville 

Replace with a new Well 
Being centre. Existing sites 
to remain until new centre is 
confirmed or suitable 
organisation for CAT “has 
been identified”. 

East Leeds to close at end of March. No 
change to strategic intention to provide a 
single new centre in the medium term. 

Garforth 
and 
Kippax 

Replace with a new or 
refurbished leisure centre 

Garforth to operate on reduced hours 
from 1 April, and CAT to be pursued.  No 
change to strategic intention to provide a 
single new centre in the medium term. 

Page 7



Middleton Replace with a new Well 
Being centre or CAT 

Close pool but enhance remainder using 
S106 funding, with indoor refurbishment 
and new outdoor facilities including 3rd 
generation artificial turf pitch 

Bramley 
Baths 

Refurbish  Move to reduced hours 

Refurb 
sites 

Refurbish Aireborough, 
Pudsey, Rothwell, Kirkstall, 
Bramley, Otley, Scott Hall, 
Wetherby 

Bramley as noted above. At other sites, 
confirm intention to complete 
refurbishment programme when funding 
is available. 

Holt Park Vision assumes successful 
PFI scheme 

PFI scheme is under review by DoH.  

 
6.0 Considerations for individual sites covered by budget decision. 
 

East Leeds    
 
6.1 The budget for 2010/11 assumed the leisure centre would be subject to CAT in the 

course of that financial year, with therefore no budget provision to be made in 
2011/12. The attempt to date to achieve CAT has failed, visits continue to fall and the 
estimated deficit per visit is the highest in the city. There is no capacity to re-establish 
the budget except by diverting support from other, better value for money sites and 
programmes. However, until alternative plans for the site are formulated and agreed, 
the Council remains open to receiving new expressions of interest for CAT. 

 
6.2 The other services operating from this building were consulted over the impact of 

closing the leisure centre. The One Stop Shop was affected by other rationalisation 
plans and it was decided to consolidate this service in Osmondthorpe. The service 
has asked the provider of the ATM machine at their existing site to relocate an ATM to 
the Osmondthorpe site. The ALMO offices (which did not have a public reception) 
also moved out. The Youth Service has been planning for some time to make 
significant savings by rationalising its use of offices so is vacating this office on 31 
March 2011. At the time this report was drafted the Youth Service was reviewing 
whether service delivery could continue in this building or transfer to another local 
site.  

 
6.3 The strategic intention remains to provide a new leisure centre serving the combined 

east Leeds catchments of Fearnville and East Leeds, when funding conditions permit.  
 

Garforth 
 
6.4 At Garforth two factors made the likelihood of achieving an early asset transfer very 

good:-  
 

• the presence of a community orientated secondary school run by a successful and 
dynamic Third Sector organisation with business skills  
 

• the synergy between the school’s and the community’s need for sports facilities, 
meaning that dual use is inherently efficient. 

 

Page 8



6.5 The transfer would enable restoration in full or large part of standard community 
opening hours.  In the meantime, on 22 March the Outer East Area Committee 
decided to provide additional funding for Garforth to enable the opening hours to be 
increased from 31 per week. Constitutional advice has been taken which confirms that 
this does not conflict with the resolution of Council, whose decision means that the 
City Development budget cannot be used to fund more than 31 hours per week 
opening, but does not prohibit other appropriate funding sources being used.   
 
Middleton Pool 

 
6.6 A significant proportion of local swimming participation is now at the John Charles 

Centre for Sport, and another group of users moved to the new Morley pool when it 
opened in 2010. Although the Aquatics Centre at the John Charles Centre for Sport is 
geographically closer, it is still not fully perceived as the local pool for Middleton, and 
further measures will be taken to change this. The subsidy per user at Middleton is 
the highest in Leeds after East Leeds and Kippax/Garforth. Sport England’s analysis 
in 2008/9 using their Facilities Planning model was that there is a role for the dry side 
but the pool was surplus to Leeds’ sporting requirements. The proposal is to close the 
pool from the start of September (after the school summer holidays) while retaining 
and enhancing the dry side of this centre. 

 
6.7 Investment in the dry side will be funded from a S106 sum of £1.9m which will fund 

improving the outdoor pitches served from the centre, including a new 3G artificial turf 
pitch, and improving the Leisure Centre changing rooms and entrance which also 
service the pitches. In addition Adult Social Care plans to invest in creating space in 
the centre suitable for day care centre use. Together, these create the prospect of a 
thriving community sports centre. In combination with the closure of the pool this 
could operate on a sustainable financial basis.  

 
6.8 The Vision for Leisure Centres proposed Community Asset Transfer as a fall back, if 

the PFI bid in progress at that time failed. However officers consider the prospect of 
CAT is unlikely, at least if the pool is retained, in view of the centre’s poor trading 
performance and high need for maintenance. 

 
6.9 At Scrutiny Board, the view was expressed that the John Charles Centre for Sport is 

not seen as being for local users. This is a commonly expressed concern and it is 
accepted that there is a problem to deal with, although mapping the postcode origins 
of (card) users shows a heavy preponderance of use by local people.  A number of 
responses are planned including improvements to the external environment round the 
centre, and outreach and sports development work to improve links with local 
communities. 

 
Bramley Baths 

 
6.10 Bramley is a cherished and attractive pool with architectural and social heritage, but 

the constrained site and constrained car parking space prevents the development of a 
wider range of leisure options which would normally provide cross subsidy. Moreover, 
although the site appeals strongly to a core of users, most users prefer more modern 
facilities. Since the opening of the new Armley leisure centre, a significant proportion 
of users have transferred from Bramley, and user numbers have dropped by 
approximately 30%. Pudsey is also in reasonable distance.  Bramley now accounts 
for only 17% of the visits to these three sites.  If the Holt Park Well Being Centre is 
confirmed, its catchment would be further eroded.  In view of these factors, which 
have substantially increased the subsidy per visit at Bramley, the proposal is to 
reduce opening to 29 hours per week in September after the school summer holidays. 

 

Page 9



7. Conclusion 
 
7.1 The information outlined above highlights the background to the budget decisions 

made with respect to leisure centres.  It is acknowledged that Full Council had to 
make difficult budget decisions that, however, given the financial strain that the sports 
services had operated within in recent years, reductions in service were unavoidable.  
This position, coupled with the need to make immediate savings from 1 April 2011 
resulted in the resolutions passed by Full Council on 23 February 2011. 

 
8. Recommendations 
 
8.1 Members are asked to note and comment on the information provided. 
 
 
 
 
Appendices 
 
A Leisure Centres key statistics 
B         Analysis of income and expenditure 
C         Bodyline Analysis 
 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
None used 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



L
e

is
u

re
 C

e
n

tr
e

s
 K

e
y

 S
ta

ti
s

ti
c

s
 2

0
1

0
/1

1
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 A

Y
e
a

r
F

T
E

s
In

c
o

m
e

C
o

s
ts

D
e

fi
c

it
V

is
it

s
D

e
fi

c
it

M
a

in
t-

P
ro

je
c
te

d
 i

m
p

a
c
t 

if
 c

lo
s
e
d

 (
n

o
te

 7
)

b
u
ilt

2
0
1

0
/1

1
e

x
c
l.

p
e

r 
v

is
it

e
n

a
n

c
e

v
is

it
s

In
c
o
m

e
s
a
v
in

g
 i
n
c
. 

s
a
v
in

g
"
E

x
tr

a
"

6
0
+

F
o
re

c
a
s
t

N
o

te
 5

m
a

in
t.

N
o

te
 6

e
x
c
l.

N
o

te
 4

lo
s
t

lo
s
t

in
c
o
m

e
 

p
e
r 

lo
s
t

V
is

it
s

V
is

it
s

£
0
0

0
s

£
0

0
0

s
£

0
0

0
s

m
a

in
t.

£
0

0
0

s
N

o
te

 2
tr

a
n
s
fe

r 
 £

k
s

v
is

it

A
IR

E
B

O
R

O
U

G
H

1
9
6

7
3
1

8
2
7

8
9

9
-7

1
3

4
0

,0
0

0
-£

0
.2

1
5

0
2

3
8
,0

0
0

7
0
%

3
1

9
1
.3

4
£
  

  
  

 
8
,6

8
2

1
8
,3

9
9

A
R

M
L
E

Y
 (

n
o
te

 1
)

2
0
1

0
2
8

8
7
6

7
3

5
1

4
2

3
1

8
,6

8
4

n
o

t 
e
s
ti
m

a
te

d

B
R

A
M

L
E

Y
 B

A
T

H
S

1
9
0

4
1
9

3
8
4

5
1

6
-1

3
1

1
1

9
,5

0
0

-£
1

.1
0

4
0

4
7
,8

0
0

  
 

4
0
%

3
6

2
7
.5

7
£
  

  
  

 
9
,0

5
4

8
,6

3
9

E
A

S
T

 L
E

E
D

S
1
9
8

5
2
3

3
0
4

6
4

6
-3

4
2

1
3

7
,3

0
7

-£
2

.4
9

5
0

6
8

,6
5
4

  
 

5
0
%

4
9

4
7
.2

0
£
  

  
  

 
9
,6

4
9

7
,3

8
9

F
E

A
R

N
V

IL
L
E

1
9
8

0
2
5

4
5
1

6
6

1
-2

1
0

2
2

2
,6

1
1

-£
0

.9
4

5
0

1
3

3
,5

6
7

6
0
%

3
9

0
2
.9

2
£
  

  
  

 
1
4
,0

6
0

7
,8

9
8

G
A

R
F

O
R

T
H

1
9
7

0
s

1
8

4
3
2

5
3

3
-1

0
1

1
3

5
,0

0
0

-£
0

.7
5

3
0

6
7

,5
0
0

  
 

5
0
%

3
1

7
4
.7

0
£
  

  
  

 
3
,0

8
8

4
,9

1
6

H
O

L
T

 P
A

R
K

1
9
7

6
2
5

5
1
7

7
9

2
-2

7
5

2
0

0
,0

0
0

-£
1

.3
7

6
0

1
3

0
,0

0
0

6
5
%

4
5

6
3
.5

1
£
  

  
  

 
1
2
,4

6
0

1
2
,8

3
6

J
O

H
N

 C
H

A
R

L
E

S
2
0
0

7
7
2

1
,7

0
9

2
,8

0
6

-1
,0

9
7

8
5

4
,3

2
0

-£
1

.2
8

1
0

0
5

9
8
,0

2
4

7
0
%

1
,6

1
0

2
.6

9
£
  

  
  

 
1
2
,7

3
0

1
9
,4

8
0

J
O

H
N

 S
M

E
A

T
O

N
2
0
0

7
2
8

7
8
8

7
9

5
-7

3
2

0
,8

8
6

-£
0

.0
2

3
0

1
7

6
,4

8
7

5
5
%

3
6
1

2
.0

5
£
  

  
  

 
9
,6

1
8

9
,4

7
3

K
IP

P
A

X
1
9
7

3
1
8

2
8
0

5
3

4
-2

5
4

1
2

0
,0

0
0

-£
2

.1
2

4
0

7
2
,0

0
0

  
 

6
0
%

3
6

6
5
.0

8
£
  

  
  

 
4
,0

0
2

7
,6

4
7

K
IR

K
S

T
A

L
L

1
9
8

3
2
5

6
5
5

7
9

9
-1

4
4

2
3

0
,0

0
0

-£
0

.6
3

4
0

1
1

5
,0

0
0

5
0
%

4
7

2
4
.1

0
£
  

  
  

 
1
4
,1

3
4

1
3
,0

3
2

M
ID

D
L
E

T
O

N
 (

n
o
te

 3
1
9
7

0
s

1
6

2
2
5

4
5

5
-2

3
0

1
1

6
,0

0
0

-£
1

.9
8

4
0

5
8

,0
0
0

  
 

5
0
%

3
4

2
5
.9

0
£
  

  
  

 
1
0
,9

7
7

3
,9

3
9

M
O

R
L
E

Y
  
(n

o
te

 1
)

2
0
1

0
3
3

1
,4

9
9

1
,0

2
1

4
7

8
4

9
9

,6
2

0
n

o
t 
e
s
ti
m

a
te

d

O
T

L
E

Y
1
9
7

4
2

9
7

1
3

7
-3

9
6

4
,9

6
9

-£
0

.6
1

1
5

3
8
,9

8
1

  
 

6
0
%

7
8

2
.0

0
£
  

  
  

 
n
.a

.
n
.a

.

P
U

D
S

E
Y

1
9
2

8
3
3

7
2
8

8
0

5
-7

7
2

5
0

,0
0

0
-£

0
.3

1
5

0
1

6
3
,5

0
0

6
5
%

3
2

9
2
.0

1
£
  

  
  

 
1
1
,3

2
7

1
9
,0

2
2

R
O

T
H

W
E

L
L

1
9
7

4
3
7

9
9
0

9
3

1
5

9
3

4
0

,0
0

0
£

0
.1

7
6

0
2

3
8

,0
0
0

7
0
%

2
3

8
1
.0

0
£
  

  
  

 
1
1
,6

1
5

1
8
,1

3
3

S
C

O
T

T
 H

A
L
L

1
9
8

0
3
4

7
7
0

7
9

2
-2

2
3

5
0

,0
0

0
-£

0
.0

6
4

0
2

4
5
,0

0
0

7
0
%

2
5

3
1
.0

3
£
  

  
  

 
1
9
,7

6
7

1
1
,5

4
2

W
E

T
H

E
R

B
Y

1
9
7

5
2
1

4
5
3

6
1

8
-1

6
6

1
9

1
,0

0
0

-£
0

.8
7

4
0

1
5

2
,8

0
0

8
0
%

2
5

6
1
.6

8
£
  

  
  

 
4
,6

0
4

1
6
,0

0
0

A
L

L
 S

IT
E

S
4

8
8

1
1

,9
8
6

1
4

,4
7

3
-2

,4
8

7
4

,8
0

9
,8

9
6

-£
0

.5
2

7
3

5
1
5
5

,7
6
7

1
7
8
,3

4
5

N
o
te

 1
: 
P

F
I 
s
it
e
 f
ig

u
re

s
 a

re
 n

o
t 

c
o

m
p
a

ra
b
le

 -
 t
h

e
y
 e

x
c
lu

d
e

 u
n

it
a

ry
 c

h
a

rg
e

 (
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 e

n
e

rg
y
, 
m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 m

a
n
y
 r

u
n
n

in
g
 c

o
s
ts

)

N
o
te

 2
: 
s
o
m

e
 v

is
it
s
 w

o
u
ld

 t
ra

n
s
fe

r 
to

 o
th

e
r 

c
e

n
tr

e
s
; 
th

is
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

 i
s
 b

a
s
e

d
 o

n
 g

e
o

g
ra

p
h

y
, 
k
n

o
w

n
 u

s
e
 p

a
tt

e
rn

s
 a

n
d
 e

x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 e

ls
e
w

h
e
re

.

N
o
te

 3
: 
M

id
d
le

to
n
 f
ig

u
re

s
 a

re
 f

o
r 

th
e
 w

h
o
le

 l
e

is
u

re
 c

e
n

tr
e

, 
b

u
t 
th

e
 p

ro
p

o
s
a

l 
is

 t
o

 c
lo

s
e

 j
u

s
t 
th

e
 p

o
o
l.
 

N
o
te

 4
: 
fi
g
u
re

s
 a

re
 t

y
p
ic

a
l 
h
is

to
ri
c
 f

ig
u

re
s
. 

M
o

s
t 
c
e

n
tr

e
s
 n

e
e

d
 i
n

c
re

a
s
in

g
 m

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

 t
o

 s
ta

y
 o

p
e
n
.

N
o
te

 5
: 
c
o
s
ts

 e
x
c
lu

d
e

 m
a

in
te

n
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 a

re
 2

0
1

0
/1

1
 f
o

re
c
a

s
t 
le

s
s
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 p

ro
je

c
te

d
 f
ro

m
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 

s
ta

ff
 r

e
v
ie

w

N
o
te

 6
: 
h
is

to
ri
c
 f
ig

u
re

 p
lu

s
 p

ro
je

c
te

d
 f

u
ll 

y
e

a
r 

e
ff
e

c
t 
o

f 
e

n
d

in
g

 f
re

e
 s

w
im

m
in

g
 s

c
h

e
m

e
s
.

N
o
te

 7
: 
F

u
ll 

y
e

a
r 

e
ff

e
c
t.

 I
t 

is
 n

o
t 

p
ro

p
o

s
e
d
 t

o
 c

lo
s
e

  
B

ra
m

le
y
, 
G

a
rf

o
rt

h
 o

r 
M

id
d

le
to

n
, 
b

u
t 
th

is
 p

re
s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

 a
llo

w
s
 l
ik

e
-f

o
r-

lik
e
 c

o
m

p
a
ri
s
o
n
.

L
e
e

d
s
C

a
rd

 0
9
/1

0

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Board 5th April 2011 Appendix B

Leeds City Council Analysis of Income & Expenditure

Sport & Active Recreation Garforth Bramley East Leeds Middleton

Key Statistics 2010/11 2010/11 2010/11 2010/11 2010/11

Detailed Forecasts Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

Income (no Corporate cards or costs) 406,386 358,326 321,424 215,699

Cost of Sales 33,633 10,164 14,249 16,448

Net Income 372,753 348,162 307,174 199,251

Income/Payroll 84% 70% 63% 55%

Payroll 484,425 497,404 510,074 359,299

Gas, Electricity & Water 38,334 44,891 79,892 44,816

NNDR 32,499 14,232 55,676 40,986

Other Premises 8,745 5,285 60,444 7,188

Running Costs 33,509 25,917 30,154 15,299

597,512 587,728 736,241 467,587

Deficit per centre accounts -224,759 -239,566 -429,066 -268,335

before adjustments for restructure savings and corporate Bodyline income

Less effect of staff restructure 77,500 62,000 77,500 7,000

Less central bodyline income 59,000 36,000 0 26,000

Minor adjustments -12,742 10,566 9,566 5,335

Deficit per Appendix A -101,000 -131,000 -342,000 -230,000 

Visits

Key Activity 97,254          89,500         69,000          41,015         

Other 38,256          30,000         33,691          80,000         

Total 135,510        119,500       102,691        121,015       

Centre deficit per visit -£1.66 -£2.00 -£4.18 -£2.22

Savings if closed (assumptions)

Costs saved 100% 100% 100% 100%

Income retained at other sites 50% 60% 50% 50%

Income Lost 50% 40% 50% 50%

Payroll saved 484,425 497,404 510,074 359,299

Other costs saved 113,087 90,324 226,166 108,288

Income lost -186,377 -139,265 -153,587 -99,626 

Net potential saving 411,135 448,463 582,653 367,961

before adjustments for restructure savings and corporate Bodyline income

Less effect of restructure -77,500 -62,000 -77,500 -7,000 

Less central bodyline income -29,500 -18,000 0 -13,000 

Minor adjustments 12,865 -6,463 -11,153 -5,961 

Potential Savings per Appendix A 317,000 362,000 494,000 342,000

Visits lost 67,755          47,800        51,345         60,508        

Local cost savings per visit lost £6.07 £9.38 £11.35 £6.08

Visits lost per £10,000 savings 1,648            1,066          881              1,644          

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Board 5th April 2011 Appendix C

Leeds City Council Bodyline Analysis

Sport & Active Recreation

Latest Annual Figures for Visits by Bodyline Cardholders

Bodyline Card Visits 

2009/10

A
ir

e
b
o
ro

u
g
h

A
rm

le
y
 (

E
s
t)

A
q
u
a
ti
c
s

B
ra

m
le

y

E
a
s
t 

L
e
e
d
s

F
e
a
rn

v
ill

e

Gym Stations 53 100 32 33 15

Bodyline Gym 41,059 85,000 30,018 19,963 4,923

Pool related 6,622 15,000 24,539 7,334 4,449 6,974

Fitness & other 8,497 15,000 14,785 3,516 6,218 11,076

Total Member Visits 56,178 115,000 39,324 40,868 30,630 22,973

Reopened 18 

May 2010

Bodyline Card Visits 

2009/10

G
a
rf

o
rt

h

H
o
lt
 P

a
rk

J
o
h
n
 S

m
e
a
to

n

k
ip

p
a
x

k
ir
k
s
ta

ll

M
id

d
le

to
n

M
o
rl
e
y
 (

E
s
t)

Gym Stations 44 26 58 150

Bodyline Gym 41,440 19,075 72,955 150,000

Pool related 6,052 9,773 2,606 13,720 1,241 25,000

Fitness & other 14,998 5,678 5,351 2,524 22,389 1,639 20,000

Total Member Visits 56,438 30,805 88,079 5,130 36,109 2,880 195,000

Reopened 22 

June 2010

Bodyline Card Visits 

2009/10

P
u
d
s
e
y

R
o
th

w
e
ll

S
c
o
tt

 H
a
ll

S
 L

e
e
d
s

S
ta

d
iu

m

W
e
th

e
rb

y

T
O

T
A

L

Gym Stations 65 103 65 12 70 28 576

Bodyline Gym 79,249 101,068 60,000 7,014 76,889 24,124 529,307

Pool related 9,656 10,614 10,000 5,406 6,205 106,799

Fitness & other 11,003 10,901 12,000 10,290 966 3,231 107,483

Total Member Visits 99,908 122,583 82,000 22,710 77,855 33,560 743,589

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (City Development) 
 
Date: 20th April 2011 
 
Subject: :  Implementing Audit Report Recommendations 
 

…  
 
1.0      Introduction 
 
1.1 The Board has requested consideration of both a recent Internal Audit and a progress 

report from the City Development Directorate, detailing the progress that has been 
made in implementing the recommendations made by Internal Audit.  

             
2.0      Internal Audit Report and Report of the Acting Director of City Development 
 

2.1 In order to consider these matters Scrutiny Members require access and have a 
“need to know” the information in the attached exempted progress report and the 
Internal Audit report.   If published it is considered that both documents could be 
misconstrued as being prejudicial to individual staff, and therefore although there is a 
public interest in accountability and transparency in the spending of public money, it is 
considered the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosure.   

 
2.2 Therefore members are asked to agree that both the Internal Audit report and the 

report of the Acting Director of City Development be considered exempt from 
publication.  This is because the information contained in the report relates to an 
individual and is likely to reveal the identity of that individual if published.  

 
3.0      Recommendation 
 

3.1 Members are asked to; 

• Consider whether or not to accept the Acting Director’s recommendation that both 
the Internal Audit report and the Acting Director of City Development’s report 
remain exempt for the reasons specified; and 

• Receive the reports and consider the matters contained.  

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 
 

Electoral Wards Affected:  All 

 

 

 

 

Not for Publication:  
Both the attached report of the Acting Director of City Development and the attached 
Internal Audit Report are exempt under Access to Information Procedure Rules 10.4 
(1,2,4 &6) 

Originator: Richard Mills  
 

Tel:247 4557  

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  

Agenda Item 8

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 19

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to 

Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (1, 2, 4, 6)

Document is Restricted



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 25

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to 

Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (1, 2, 4, 6)

Document is Restricted



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Closure of East Leeds Leisure Centre and Middleton Pool and Reduced Opening Hours of Garforth Squash and Leisure Centre
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	8 Implementing Audit Report Recommendations
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2


